

Clinical Practice Framework Research Rationale

March 2024

Produced in conjunction with NCTQ's <u>Clinical Practice Framework: Six</u> <u>Focus Areas for Effective Student Teaching</u> and <u>Defining Types of Clinical</u> <u>Practice</u>

CONTENTS

RESEARCH ON STUDENT TEACHING	4
AREA 1: STRONG DISTRICT-PREP PROGRAM PARTNERSHIPS	5
Governance structure	5
Shared and independent goals	6
Frequent check-ins	6
AREA 2: STUDENT TEACHER-COOPERATING TEACHER MATCHES	8
Instructionally effective cooperating teachers	8
Teacher selection and recruitment process	10
Stipends for cooperating teachers	11
Stipends for student teachers	12
Support for student teachers of color	12
AREA 3: COOPERATING TEACHER AND PROGRAM SUPERVISOR TRAINING	14
Training for cooperating teachers and program supervisors on how to effectively mentor adults and give feedback	14
Calibrating on observation instrument	18
Clear expectations for program supervisors	20
AREA 4: STUDENT TEACHER PLACEMENT SITES	21
Identification of placement sites, considering future hiring needs	21
Alignment with future teaching position	21
School and class characteristics	22
Range of settings	23
AREA 5: STUDENT TEACHER SKILL DEVELOPMENT	24
Field experiences that increase in difficulty and specialization, culminating in full-tim student teaching, and are accompanied by frequent feedback	าe 24
Grade-level work and high-quality curricula	25
Frequent observations with strong observation instruments	26
Clearly defined learning outcomes for student teachers	27
For consideration: Length of placement	28
AREA 6: DATA AND OUTCOMES	31

Feedback from student teachers	
Feedback from cooperating teachers and placement schools	31
Hiring metrics	
Classroom performance metrics	
Future learning	
ENDNOTES	34

RESEARCH ON STUDENT TEACHING

Clinical practice, or student teaching, has long been considered the most impactful part of teacher preparation.¹ It is the best opportunity for aspiring teachers to put into action the skills, content, and theory they learned on a regular and sustained basis and to infuse those lessons into their instructional "muscle memory." Teachers who complete a student teaching experience are also more likely to stay in the classroom than those who do not.²

The field has largely reached consensus that clinical practice matters (although some alternative route programs persist in sending teachers into the classroom with minimal clinical practice experience).³ Over the last few years, researchers have shown greater interest in exploring *how* to make that experience an effective one, and the field has yet to coalesce on how to design experiences that align with the research. In many ways, clinical practice has looked the same for decades. NCTQ's review of teacher prep programs has found little evidence of change in key areas like required qualifications for cooperating teachers between its first analysis in 2013 and its most recent in 2020.⁴

This literature review, aligned to <u>NCTQ's Clinical Practice Framework</u>, explores various components of clinical practice and how they affect a range of outcomes, including aspiring teachers' feelings of preparedness, their entry into teaching, their retention in the classroom, and perhaps most importantly, their effectiveness once they are running a classroom of their own. This review primarily relies on published, peer-reviewed research and working papers, but includes some work by prominent organizations and task forces in the field to supplement areas where research is scarce and to provide more insight into the views of the field.

AREA 1: STRONG DISTRICT-PREP PROGRAM PARTNERSHIPS

Governance structure

Clinical practice programs, by their nature, require some level of coordination between teacher prep programs and school districts.⁵ A more formal governance structure with clearly defined goals, roles, and responsibilities may both ease coordination and heighten outcomes. For example, while prep programs and districts may agree that cooperating teachers should be "effective instructors," they may have different criteria for what that means or may rely on a measure like teacher evaluations in which often nearly every educator is identified as effective. This process can also ensure that prep programs and districts are aligned in terms of their goals, understanding of future hiring needs, and expected outcomes for student teachers. This process may also offer an opportunity for prep programs and school districts to ensure alignment in high-quality curricula and instructional methods used in the district so that student teaching reinforces research-aligned instruction and curricula that candidates learn about during preparation.⁶

There is little research defining the effective elements of a governance structure to facilitate clinical practice, so this section relies on findings from task forces comprising practitioners, experts, and leaders in the field that have explored the issue. The National Education Association (NEA), a national teachers' union, and the National Council for Accreditation of Teacher Education (NCATE), a former professional accreditor of teacher preparation programs (which has since merged with another accreditor to form CAEP, the Council for the Accreditation of Educator Preparation) both published reports resulting from task forces that outline the following recommendations for these partnerships:

- Work together to either identify needs for candidates' coursework or to codesign coursework.⁷
- Identify opportunities to share data to support placement identification and continuous improvement.⁸
- Establish criteria for selecting & screening candidates for program admission⁹ and completion.¹⁰
- Establish qualifications, criteria, and training protocols for cooperating teachers, as well as processes to give cooperating teachers feedback and to renew or dismiss them.¹¹
- Collaborate to identify placement sites, especially those that will create coherence between coursework and field experiences.¹²

 Consider structural changes like aligning the prep program schedule with K–12 school calendars.¹³

To help achieve these outcomes, the NCATE task force recommends state policies to incentivize partnerships (including financial incentives) and to remove inhibiting or regulatory barriers.¹⁴ This could include funding sources to reward districts that commit resources to clinical practice programs.

Key takeaway: While research is limited, experts suggest that a more formal governance structure with clearly defined goals may both ease coordination and heighten outcomes.

Shared and independent goals

Researchers speak to the closely related but distinct roles that prep programs and districts play in clinical practice placements and to the sometimes shared and sometimes competing goals they have in this process.¹⁵ For example, in this qualitative study of 15 teacher preparation programs and six schools in Washington State the researchers found that both the district and prep program likely want student-teaching placements to lead to hiring that candidate in the district, but districts may want to place student teachers with a cooperating teacher who they believe would benefit from more support, rather than with a highly effective teacher.

Further, a case study of Monmouth University Partnership details the establishment of primary goals for the partnership between the teacher prep program and six partner districts, including a "comprehensive mission" to increase student learning, as well as four additional goals (e.g., preparation of future educators, professional development). The case study also details the operational structure of the partnership: an articulation agreement, structure (e.g., establishment of advisory councils, a professional development school committee, and a steering committee), formal roles, and dedicated and shared resources.¹⁶ The case study does not include evidence of outcomes.

Key takeaway: While limited, research suggests that shared and separate goals clarify expectations and keep all parties engaged in the clinical practice system.

Frequent check-ins

Establishing clear goals and roles can also help both parties to the partnership provide regular feedback. Several case studies explore how prep programs embed within schools or work closely with schools,¹⁷ noting that through these partnerships, the schools feel more empowered to give feedback to the prep program.¹⁸ However, the case studies offer scant outcome data.

These check-ins should occur between the partners at a higher level (e.g., the person in the teacher prep program who oversees clinical practice meeting alongside the district

leader overseeing clinical practice), as well as between individual cooperating teachers and program supervisors. Education First, a national education strategy and policy organization, recommends identifying point people from both sides of the partnership and establishing frequent in-person meetings.¹⁹ One institution that examined its own clinical practice program learned from surveys that 82% of cooperating teachers "indicated that it was *very important* to confer with the supervisor about the candidates' progress during weekly visits."²⁰ This institution reports that part of the goal of these partnerships is to help program supervisors enhance their skills.

Key takeaway: Districts and prep programs need regular and frequent opportunities to share feedback with each other. Feedback can inform course support for student teachers (e.g., identifying weak points of content knowledge or forms of assessment with which candidates are unfamiliar that can be addressed in coursework), as well as inform additional guidance student teachers should receive from cooperating teachers, etc.

AREA 2: STUDENT TEACHER-COOPERATING TEACHER MATCHES

Instructionally effective cooperating teachers

Modeling effective instruction has long been one of the purposes of cooperating teachers.²¹ Cooperating teachers' own effectiveness matters more than any other aspect of clinical practice that researchers have examined.²² The research is less clear-cut on other cooperating teacher characteristics.

Novice teachers agree about the importance of cooperating teachers: in a survey of teachers after they completed their first semester as the teacher of record, the relationship they had with their mentor teacher was the aspect of preparation that most prepared them for their first semester of teaching.²³

Instructional effectiveness

Numerous studies found that student teachers whose cooperating teachers have higher value-added model (VAM) scores go on to be more effective.²⁴ One finds that novice teachers who were mentored by highly effective cooperating teachers were as effective as second-year teachers in English language arts (ELA) and third-year teachers in math.²⁵ Another study found a relationship between cooperating teachers' VAM scores and their student teachers' feeling of preparedness²⁶ while another did not.²⁷ One study found a slightly negative relationship between cooperating teachers' VAM scores and their student teachers' improvement during student teaching, but the researchers hypothesize that this may reflect that cooperating teachers with higher VAM scores are also harder graders.²⁸

Research also finds that student teachers whose cooperating teachers have higher observation ratings go on to be more effective.²⁹ One study found that every additional point of a cooperating teacher's observation rating (on a four-point scale) was associated with their student teacher earning higher observation ratings, equivalent to the difference between a first-year and a second- to fifth-year teacher.³⁰

Limiting the selection of cooperating teachers to those who are instructionally effective may benefit that teacher's students. One study found that while hosting a student teacher had no impact on student achievement during the host year, cooperating teachers' students showed greater achievement gains in the following years.³¹

Research also finds that as long as cooperating teachers are effective instructors, hosting student teachers does not hurt their evaluation ratings. A study out of Tennessee found

that cooperating teachers suffered no harm to their ratings or to their students' learning,³² while another study from Washington State found that, on average, only less effective teachers saw their evaluation ratings drop.³³

Notably, not all cooperating teachers *are* effective. A study in Washington State found that more than 40% of mentor teachers were considered ineffective or moderately ineffective based on mean value-added scores.³⁴

Other aspects of cooperating teacher quality may also make a difference.

- Years of experience: Research is mixed on whether more experience makes for more effective cooperating teachers. Four studies find some benefit to having more experienced cooperating teachers, although two of these studies include years of experience in a composite measure of cooperating teacher quality.³⁵ Benefits include increased improvement during student teaching, greater teacher effectiveness, and stronger feelings of preparedness for the candidate (which does not always correlate with being better prepared³⁶). One study found no relationship between the cooperating teacher's years of experience and the candidate's future effectiveness,³⁷ and another study found that cooperating teachers' years of experience predicted their student teachers' feelings of being prepared but not actually *being* better prepared (as measured by observation ratings).³⁸
- Coaching and leadership ability: In several studies, cooperating teachers' scores on coaching and leadership (from past evaluations or from their student teachers) are associated with their student teachers feeling better prepared³⁹ or having higher VAM scores.⁴⁰
- National Board Certification: One new study on cooperating teachers with National Board Certification finds that their student teachers are slightly more likely to be hired but are no more effective (and are slightly less effective in ELA).⁴¹ Another study found that mentor teachers' National Board Certification was unrelated to their student teachers' feelings of preparedness and negatively correlated with their student teachers' first-year observation ratings (though this study could not determine whether having a National Board teacher *caused* their student teachers to be less effective).⁴²

Key takeaways: The research is clear that cooperating teachers should be instructionally effective, based on clearly defined measures of the value they add to student learning and observation ratings. This evidence of effectiveness should be prioritized over other measures like years of experience and National Board Certification.

Teacher selection and recruitment process

While prep programs and districts have been recruiting cooperating teachers for decades, the process often relies on informal connections and may lack attention to or transparency about cooperating teacher quality.

A recent report explored how student teacher placements are made in Washington State.⁴³ The process typically follows five steps:

- 1. Prep programs conduct a needs assessment to determine how many placements they will need.
- 2. Prep programs contact school districts (or individual schools) to determine their capacity to host student teachers.
- 3. School districts (or individual schools) assess their capacity.
- 4. School districts (and schools) identify potential cooperating teachers. Principals are often consulted at this point, given their knowledge of teachers' workload and ability.
- 5. Teacher candidate, cooperating teacher, and principal meet.

In the fourth step, identifying cooperating teachers, many prep programs reported an "information asymmetry," sharing that they have little insight into how districts are selecting specific cooperating teachers.⁴⁴ Districts and school leaders reported varied approaches to this selection (sometimes choosing teachers with strong classroom management or evidence of effectiveness, other times choosing teachers who could benefit from added support or allowing teachers to volunteer).

Prep programs and districts also share that they are developing tools to facilitate this process, such as shared electronic spreadsheets and other documents.⁴⁵

Research suggests that a more systematic approach to selection would be beneficial. One experimental study found that providing lists to districts of teachers recommended to host student teachers based on their evaluation scores, value-added measures, and years of experience produced higher-quality placements.⁴⁶ Student teachers in those districts that received the lists of recommended teachers felt much better prepared to teach.

This study was replicated with another cohort of candidates in the same prep program, as well as with three new prep programs that varied in size and location.⁴⁷ In these replication studies, researchers found that student teachers in districts that received recommendation lists again reported feeling more prepared, they received higher clinical assessment scores (although similar rates of employment and observation ratings), and that once again, the instructional quality of the cooperating teachers was again higher when districts received the recommendation list. The study further found that districts

that had previously received lists of more effective cooperating teachers reverted to a "business as usual" approach in subsequent years, indicating that providing this list should be an annual activity.

However, several studies (in Tennessee,⁴⁸ Chicago,⁴⁹ and Washington State⁵⁰) find that cooperating teachers are, on average, more effective than non-cooperating teachers.

To make the work of cooperating teachers more feasible, an NCATE task force recommends providing teachers with time away from their standard classroom responsibilities to work with student teachers, as well as opportunities to "benefit from the expertise of literacy coaches, mentor and induction coaches, and clinical educators who have special expertise in working with teacher candidates."⁵¹

Key takeaway: Information and collaboration are key to improving cooperating teacher selection. If a state or district can gather information about teachers based on established metrics of quality to identify potential cooperating teachers, that information can lead to selecting more effective cooperating teachers and may also show that there are more instructionally effective cooperating teachers available than was previously known.

Stipends for cooperating teachers

Being a cooperating teacher requires additional work and responsibility, and so it stands to reason that cooperating teachers should be compensated for that work. Additional compensation would serve as recognition of their time as well as an incentive for more teachers to take on this responsibility.

However, the limited available research shows that these stipends are quite low and have been for decades. One study makes the case that cooperating teachers should earn much more than their current stipends (average of \$232 in Washington State) based on the value they add, suggesting that because highly effective cooperating teachers raise first-year teachers' effectiveness to be equivalent to a second- or third-year teacher, effective cooperating teachers should be paid anywhere from \$375 (representing the lower-end difference of additional pay that second-year teachers make compared to first-year teachers based on an analysis of four states' salary schedules) to \$3,500 (representing how much more an average third-year teacher is paid compared to a first-year teacher in Washington State).⁵² A survey of 20 prep programs found that stipends ranged from \$0 to \$490, and these ranges haven't increased since the 1950s.⁵³ Another study found that programs in a California Teacher Residency ranged from \$1,500 to \$5,500 and two-thirds of mentor teachers found these stipends to be sufficient.⁵⁴

A comparison of a study from 1968 with NCTQ's 2009 pilot test for student teaching found that while the field has moved toward longer student teaching, the average stipend paid to cooperating teachers had *declined* (from \$358 in 2009 dollars to \$250), and the number of visits from program supervisors has also decreased.⁵⁵

Key Takeaway: While little research has been done on stipends for cooperating teachers, that research consistently finds that stipends are quite low.

Stipends for student teachers

Research has long found that the process of becoming a teacher is costly,⁵⁶ both in terms of the money paid for tuition and the opportunity cost of being unable to work while student teaching. More than three in four people who trained to teach have student loan debt, and that rate is even higher for Black and Hispanic teachers and aspiring teachers.⁵⁷ Stipends could help mitigate the costs of student teaching, helping more candidates enter the profession—especially candidates of color.

Several organizations suggest innovative staffing models to pay student teachers for working part time. For example, Deans for Impact (an organization that supports teacher prep programs, schools and district partners, and policymakers in strengthening teacher preparation) and Branch Alliance for Educator Diversity (an organization focused on amplifying the contributions of minority-serving institutions in training effective and diverse educators) both suggest hiring teacher candidates to serve as tutors in advance of clinical practice or as part of a residency program.⁵⁸ Branch Alliance also suggests hiring residents to serve as substitute teachers or paraprofessionals, or to supervise parts of the school day like recess or lunch.

Key takeaway: Stipends for student teachers can make the student-teaching experience more feasible, especially for aspiring teachers of color.

Support for student teachers of color

Ample research has found that all students, and especially students of color, benefit from having teachers of color.⁵⁹ However, potential teachers of color are lost at all points along the teacher pipeline,⁶⁰ likely including student teaching. Several strategies can help aspiring teachers of color complete clinical practice and reach the classroom as teachers.

- Place student teachers of color with teachers of color. In a recent survey of teachers of color, this was a top non-pay-based hiring strategy for 24% of teachers of color.⁶¹
- **Prioritize placements for student teachers of color.** Some school districts reported that if prep programs have student teachers of color, they find a way to host them

in their district.⁶² A large share of aspiring teachers of color come from minorityserving institutions, so districts can also prioritize clinical placement partnerships with these institutions.⁶³

- Attend to potential microaggressions in both prep programs and placement sites. Several studies mention negative and sometimes race-based interactions that student teachers have with students or school teachers and staff, which can reduce their interest in becoming a teacher.⁶⁴ Prep programs and districts should be attentive to these issues and ensure that cooperating teachers and program supervisors are aware and supportive. For example, if a candidate requests a move to a different cooperating teacher, strongly consider supporting this move.⁶⁵
- Districts and prep programs can collaborate to create a race-conscious support system for student teachers of color.⁶⁶ For example, this could include establishing guidance for student teachers who face hostility in their placements (including possible outcomes associated with each action), as well as a process for student teachers to report racialized experiences (including prior to completing a cooperating teacher evaluation form at the end of the placement experience).⁶⁷
- Offer financial support such as stipends, loan forgiveness, or paid positions like tutoring that can be done concurrently with student teaching. Past research finds that people of color, and especially those who trained to be teachers, have more student loan debt than white college attendees.⁶⁸ In a survey of teachers of color about how best to bring more teachers of color into the field, expanding student loan forgiveness and scholarships was top of the list, supported by 58% of teachers of color.⁶⁹

Key takeaway: To support student teachers of color in entering the profession, prep programs, districts, and states should take multiple steps to create a more welcoming environment, put processes in place to address instances of bias when they occur, and offer financial opportunities to reduce the costs of becoming a teacher.

AREA 3: COOPERATING TEACHER AND PROGRAM SUPERVISOR TRAINING

Training for cooperating teachers and program supervisors on how to effectively mentor adults and give feedback

Research notes the value of facilitating regular information-sharing between cooperating teachers and program supervisors⁷⁰ and of clearly defining the roles and responsibilities for cooperating teachers.⁷¹

The field generally agrees that cooperating teachers and program supervisors play an important role in providing feedback and mentoring more generally.⁷² Giving feedback ideally follows a specific process, outlined as having three basic components: "(a) planning conference, (b) observation and data collection, and (c) feedback conference."⁷³ In general, receiving feedback and coaching, especially on specific teaching behaviors, is associated with candidates feeling better prepared.⁷⁴

Mentoring, too, is a multi-faceted role. One analysis made the case that cooperating teachers play three roles: instructional coach, emotional support system, and socializing agent (helping aspiring teachers assimilate into the school culture).⁷⁵

A meta-analysis of 14 studies found that when pre-service teachers receive coaching, mentoring, and supervision, these interventions have a "significant and small overall effect" for student teachers' instructional skills, a "non-significant small overall effect for planning skills," and a "significant and small-to-medium overall effect for clarity of instruction."⁷⁶

These roles often require a different skill set from teaching, and so it is quite likely that cooperating teachers and program supervisors will more effectively fulfill these roles if they receive training on how to do so.

Observations and mentoring by cooperating teachers:

A review of decades of research on cooperating teachers concluded that one of the primary roles for this position is to provide feedback to student teachers.⁷⁷ It stands to reason that feedback from cooperating teachers could be tremendously helpful, especially given the frequency with which cooperating teachers observe student teachers in action.

- **Observation frequency:** The research suggests that the frequency with which cooperating teachers provide feedback to student teachers varies widely. In one study, about half of the student teachers reported being observed and receiving feedback daily and a third reported feedback one to three times per week.⁷⁸ One study found that actual frequency of feedback reported by cooperating teachers did not predict feelings of preparedness, but that student teachers felt more prepared when they perceived that they received more frequent feedback and when that feedback included "domain specific instructional support."⁷⁹
- Quality of feedback: Candidates report receiving feedback of varying quality: In one study of 35 student teachers, only 6% reported frequent high-quality feedback (defined as focusing on "specific aspects of teaching practices and prompted pedagogical reasoning rather than providing a simple solution to a problem") and 77% reported medium-quality feedback (feedback that "mainly focused on teaching behaviors, generic teaching strategies, and classroom management"). A full 17% of candidates reported rarely receiving feedback.⁸⁰ A qualitative study with a small sample found that while cooperating teachers provided daily feedback in most cases, feedback sessions were brief (typically less than five minutes) and often did not occur until the end of the school day (rather than soon after the lesson, which is more likely to be effective⁸¹). Additionally, any written feedback was often in the form of thank you notes, notes on a lesson, or other haphazard forms rather than feedback following a rubric (like the one the program supervisor used), potentially because cooperating teachers "seemed wary of providing more formal, documented feedback."⁸²
 - Level of specificity: Several studies found that feedback from cooperating teachers tended to be very specific and situation focused,⁸³ whereas feedback from supervisors (from the prep program) tended to be more general and "prompted reflection." It seems that candidates want a mix of specific, objective, and directive feedback that also helps them understand the reasoning behind different teaching decisions (rather than just saying "Do this next time").⁸⁴
 - Content expertise: Because cooperating teachers are likely to be experts in the subject they are teaching (relative to program supervisors, who may oversee student teachers across a range of grades and subjects), their feedback on content may be especially helpful. Several studies have found that feedback on math lessons from specialists was considered more helpful than feedback from non-specialists.⁸⁵
- Effectiveness of training on providing feedback: Several studies have found that mentor teachers receive little training on how to mentor and provide feedback to their student teachers effectively,⁸⁶ but training and guidance can help strengthen

the feedback that cooperating teachers provide. Training on how to supervise student teachers is associated with cooperating teachers providing more feedback, promoting "more positive and collaborative internships," and developing better communication with student teachers compared with cooperating teachers who did not receive this training.⁸⁷ A qualitative study of a small group of cooperating teachers' feedback concluded that cooperating teachers need training on understanding the clinical supervision model; how to gather and use objective data; how to share feedback, including role-playing pre- and post-observation conferences; and learning a variety of feedback processes.⁸⁸

However, research finds that training cooperating teachers improves their ability to provide effective feedback. A study of 29 student teachers found that training their cooperating teachers on a specific framework of essential teaching skills was associated with their student teachers improving more in several areas, including "communicating challenging learning expectations" and "teaching for student learning."⁸⁹ A Dutch program learned that student teachers found the feedback from cooperating teachers who had gone through training to be more concrete, specific, and limited to a smaller number of issues.⁹⁰ A study in Tennessee found that when cooperating teachers went through professional development focused on how to coach and support their candidates, they provided more frequent coaching and they themselves became more effective, but student teachers did not feel greater satisfaction or preparedness.⁹¹ In another study, cooperating teachers from five institutions were offered training on content-focused coaching, and cooperating teachers who went through this training were more likely to have pre-lesson conferences with their student teachers and to address important issues like lesson content, lesson goals, and teaching strategies.⁹² Student teachers whose cooperating teachers had gone through this training also found the feedback process to be more collaborative and less directive. Further, cooperating teachers who received training are better able to support their student teachers with classroom management and lesson planning.93

• Even effective teachers need training on providing feedback: A study of the effects of giving districts a list of more qualified cooperating teachers (based on criteria like evaluation scores) found that while these lists lead to the recruitment of more effective instructors, student teachers did not report any differences in the amount or quality of mentoring they received.⁹⁴ This finding further emphasizes that cooperating teachers need guidance on how to be an effective mentor even if they are effective teachers.

Observations by program supervisor:

Just as student teachers find feedback from cooperating teachers to be valuable, so too do they find feedback from their program supervisor to be important.⁹⁵

- **Observation frequency:** One study found that receiving at least five observations from their program supervisor was associated with student teachers' having better future outcomes with students (using value-added scores).⁹⁶ Another study found no relationship between the number of observations and student teacher outcomes, although the programs in this study required, on average, a *minimum* of four observations.⁹⁷
- Level of specificity: In contrast to cooperating teachers' feedback, university supervisor feedback tends to be more general, less subject-specific, and more reflective (and reflective feedback could not be linked to changes in instructional practice).⁹⁸ Ideally, student teachers seem to want both frequent and direct feedback with specific suggestions *and* questions that prompt reflection.⁹⁹
- Need for training on providing feedback: Program supervisors, too, would benefit from training on mentoring and providing feedback to student teachers. A study by a former instructor and administrator at one institution shared that at his institution, program supervisors were often doctoral students who are doing this work as a means of income, and who are committed to effectively supporting candidates but "are often not aware of what is known from research about how to support teacher learning and its transfer to the early years of teaching . . . and they do not necessarily think of themselves as teacher educators."¹⁰⁰ He notes that in other institutions, program supervisors may be recently retired teachers, or the work may be assigned to a "central administrative placement office" rather than being held within the teaching department.

Topics of feedback:

The type of feedback that cooperating teachers and university supervisors provide matters. One study found that candidates felt better prepared when they felt that their cooperating teachers provided stronger "domain-specific instructional support" (defined as "coaching support provided in specific instructional areas").¹⁰¹

- **Balance of positive and corrective feedback:** Some experimental studies find that feedback that is "positive, specific, and corrective" results in positive changes in teachers' behavior, and that feedback needs to be immediate.¹⁰² However, several studies found that feedback tends to be more focused on praise than corrective, growth-oriented feedback,¹⁰³ and one found that growth-feedback most often focused on classroom management (and very rarely on, for example, planning and preparation or instruction).¹⁰⁴
- **Feedback and practice cycle:** According to Deans for Impact's *Practice with Purpose*,¹⁰⁵ candidates need feedback that is immediate and focused on a specific

task or goal. Further, candidates need the opportunity to attempt a similar task again, adjusting for the feedback they received.¹⁰⁶ This feedback cycle works best when "all parties involved in a teacher-preparation program—including the cooperating teachers and teacher-educators—agree on common language and structure for feedback."¹⁰⁷

• Mix of feedback on instruction and managing behavior: An analysis of the qualitative feedback provided by program supervisors to student teachers across three years of student teaching found that supervisors give feedback that could generally be grouped into two categories: instructional development (e.g., lesson cycle, lesson connections, lesson delivery, student comprehension) and monitoring student behavior (e.g., praise, transitions, attention, nonverbal techniques, verbal techniques).¹⁰⁸ Feedback on student comprehension and lesson delivery are the most common overall, while praise and maintaining student attention are most common among the behavior codes. The three feedback subareas most associated with observation scores were maintaining student attention, using nonverbal techniques, and lesson delivery, suggesting that program supervisors view these as most important for student teachers' success. This study also found that supervisors placed a heavier emphasis on feedback on student attention and non-verbal techniques earlier in the placement, whereas later feedback focused more on instruction.

Key takeaway: Student teachers benefit from frequent feedback. Cooperating teachers and program supervisors need training on how to effectively provide that feedback, building their skills to deliver feedback on the right topics and at the right level of specificity to support candidates' needs.

Calibrating on observation instrument

Training cooperating teachers and program supervisors on how to use an observation rubric can improve both the validity (how accurate the ratings are) and the reliability (how consistent the ratings are) of observations.

Past research has identified several ways in which observation ratings may not be valid or reliable:

• Inflated ratings: Research suggests that observers may be inclined to inflate observation ratings. One study looked at student teachers' ratings on evaluation rubrics that mirrored those used to evaluate fully licensed teachers in the relevant states. At six weeks into student teaching, 11% of student teachers were being evaluated as "significantly above" expectations, and by the end of the experience (26 weeks), a quarter of student teachers were rated as significantly above

expectations.¹⁰⁹ Given that novice teachers are typically less effective than veteran teachers and improve substantially over time,¹¹⁰ this finding calls into question whether the evaluation ratings were accurate measures of student teachers' ability at the time. Similarly, a study of 42 principals' observation ratings of four videos of teacher teaching found overall agreement of 69%, but for the lowest-rated teacher, the study found agreement of only 52%.¹¹¹ The study concludes that observers may have a better understanding of what constitutes a stronger teacher than a weaker one. This finding is especially relevant for observers of student teachers who, by virtue of being new to the classroom, are likely to rate lower on the observation rubric.

- Variance due to rater: An analysis of student teacher observation ratings by program supervisors found that, "over 30% of the variance [in evaluation scores] is explained when controlling for the supervisor and observation time," suggesting that student teachers' ratings vary substantially based on who observes them and when they're observed.¹¹² Another study found that between 9% and 17% of the variation in student teachers' observation ratings could be attributed to the mentors with whom they work, rather than differences in the student teachers themselves.¹¹³
- Variance due to student characteristics: Research on observations of in-service teachers has found evidence that these ratings may be biased based on the incoming performance of students¹¹⁴ and students' race.¹¹⁵ Training and calibrating on observation ratings may help mitigate these biases.

Training and having multiple observers (e.g., both a cooperating teacher and a program supervisor) can mitigate these concerns.¹¹⁶

Accurate and realistic observation ratings are useful not only in providing feedback to student teachers, but also in identifying which teachers to hire. A study of student teachers in Chicago Public Schools found a positive relationship between mentor teachers' ratings of teachers when they were student teaching and of their first-year observation ratings (a 0.24 correlation), while there was no relationship between student teachers' ratings of their own preparedness and ratings of them as first-year teachers.¹¹⁷ However, there was no relationship between mentor teachers' ratings of student teachers were hired by the district, showing a missed opportunity to use this information.

Key takeaway: Observation ratings of student teachers may be inflated or may vary based on the rater or the characteristics of students in the classroom. Cooperating teachers and program supervisors need training to consistently and accurately rate student teachers. This rating information can help student teachers improve and can inform future hiring decisions.

Clear expectations for program supervisors

The NCATE task force, representing practitioners and experts in the field, established that

"at a minimum, clinical faculty must be experienced and highly competent teachers, and also have the skills and knowledge to help others learn to be effective teachers. For example, a qualified clinical educator should know how adults learn, know mentoring strategies and how to use them, have a portfolio of assessment approaches, and a complement of personal skills for building trust, rapport, and communication with candidates."¹¹⁸

This task force also asserts that program supervisors, or clinical educators, should be held accountable for their teacher candidates' performance.¹¹⁹

Program supervisors should also be expected to conduct a minimum number of observations for each teacher candidate. Studies in New York City find that student teachers go on to be more effective if they received at least five observations,¹²⁰ and they view their field experience as more aligned with their preparation when they receive at least six observations.¹²¹

Key takeaway: While there is little research on program supervisor responsibilities beyond providing frequent observations with feedback, experts in the field agree that program supervisors need the knowledge and skills to support candidate improvement and be held accountable for their student teachers' performance.

AREA 4: STUDENT TEACHER PLACEMENT SITES

Identification of placement sites, considering future hiring needs

When done intentionally, student teaching can be not only an important step in *preparing* new teachers, but also a pivotal part of the hiring process. While new teachers are likely to take their first job near their home, they're 10 times more likely to take a first job near where they student taught.¹²²

Hosting student teachers with an interest in hiring them may stave off potential teacher shortages. Districts that host more student teachers have fewer teachers with emergency credentials, in a study of Washington sState school districts.¹²³ This relationship held up even after controlling for geography, demographics, and the distance to the local teacher prep programs. While hosting student teachers does take some work for the district, it offers a huge potential upside to securing qualified teachers.¹²⁴

A study of clinical practice in Chicago Public Schools found that student teachers were more likely to be placed in higher-performing, wealthier schools that did not align with the schools where they were more likely to be hired.¹²⁵ This meant that lower-performing and lower-income schools were less likely to have the chance to vet and hire these student teachers, and student teachers missed an opportunity to "learn how to be successful teachers" in the types of schools in which they were more likely to get their first job. Notably, this study found no difference in novice teachers' effectiveness based on whether they trained in a higher- or lower-performing school.

Another study found that teachers who completed student teaching in an urban school with a high proportion of students eligible for free or reduced-price lunch were almost 12 times more likely to be interested in teaching in high-poverty urban schools compared to their peers who student taught in a different setting—and this interest translated into higher rates of accepting a job in these settings and staying there for at least three years.¹²⁶

Key takeaway: Research suggests that student teaching can be an effective tool for hiring teachers into the schools and districts that need them most. If a school or district anticipates needing to hire teachers next year, they should make sure to host student teachers this year.

Alignment with future teaching position

It is not always a given that someone will student teach in the subject, grade, or even school level they intend to teach, but creating alignment yields benefits for aspiring teachers and their future students. One study finds that candidates who student teach in the same subject that they are hired into have higher student achievement scores, and another finds that when candidates are endorsed in the same area as their cooperating teacher, they're more likely to get hired.¹²⁷ One study shows that student teaching in the same grade (or school level) as their first job is associated with teacher retention and higher VAM scores in math and reading.¹²⁸ A study of special education teachers found that they had lower attrition when they student taught in a classroom setting that aligned with their job placement setting. This is true when both settings are inclusive settings (where less than half of the class are students with disabilities) and when both are self-contained settings (where more than half the class are students with disabilities).¹²⁹

However, being hired into the same school where a teacher student taught has an unclear relationship with outcomes. Two studies find first-year teachers were slightly more effective when hired into the same school or district,¹³⁰ while one study found no effect on student achievement¹³¹ and another found no effect on retention.¹³²

Key takeaway: Student teaching in the same subject or grade where one is hired is associated with better outcomes.

School and class characteristics

Student teaching in a school that has a track record of raising student outcomes *may* lead to greater effectiveness for that student teacher. Several studies looked at the achievement or growth of schools in which candidates conducted student teaching. Two focused on North Carolina found positive associations: one found that student teaching in a school with a high VAM score was associated with greater VAM scores,¹³³ and another found that student teaching in a higher value-added school alongside a cooperating teacher with higher evaluation earnings was associated with the student teacher earning a higher score on a performance assessment.¹³⁴ Another found weak evidence that student teaching in a school with more low-performing students was associated with a higher VAM score.¹³⁵

Aspiring teachers also benefit from student teaching in a more diverse (based on students' race or socioeconomic status or proportion of English learners) school, based on their VAM scores,¹³⁶ their preferences for teaching underserved students,¹³⁷ and their feelings of preparedness.¹³⁸ Several other studies find benefits to student teaching in a school whose demographics match where they get their first job; benefits include higher effectiveness,¹³⁹ reduced attrition,¹⁴⁰ and preference to teach underserved students.¹⁴¹ One study found no relationship between demographics of the school and student teachers' later effectiveness or retention.¹⁴²

However, this alignment does not always happen. For example, while novice teachers are more likely to be hired into schools serving more students living in poverty, a study of student-teaching placements in Chicago found that student teachers were more likely to be placed in schools serving students from higher-income backgrounds and schools with fewer Black students.¹⁴³

Several studies find that student teaching in a school with a more positive school climate (based on measures like high staff retention, high levels of collaboration, and high student growth) were associated with increased effectiveness¹⁴⁴ and retention.¹⁴⁵

Key takeaway: Student teaching in a school with greater student growth, greater student diversity, and a positive school climate is typically associated with better outcomes.

Range of settings

Numerous studies have found that student teachers go on to be more effective when they student taught in schools that are demographically similar to their first teaching position. But while new teachers are more likely to work in schools serving more students of color and students living in poverty,¹⁴⁶ there is no guarantee that they will be hired in schools similar to where they student taught. Because new teachers could take their first job in any number of schools with various characteristics, including in some cases virtual settings,¹⁴⁷ they would benefit from student teaching in a range of different settings. Experts in the field agree: TeachPlus identifies offering multiple placements across a variety of learning environments to be a best practice.¹⁴⁸

Key takeaway: Student teaching in a range of settings increases the likelihood that candidates will have the opportunity to practice teaching in a setting that resembles their first teaching position.

AREA 5: STUDENT TEACHER SKILL DEVELOPMENT

Field experiences that increase in difficulty and specialization, culminating in fulltime student teaching, and are accompanied by frequent feedback

Teaching is a complex job that requires practitioners to plan carefully for instruction well in advance and also to respond to students on the spot based on the needs of the moment. One oft-cited statistic is that teachers make upwards of 1,500 decisions a day.¹⁴⁹ Learning how to successfully plan ahead and respond in the moment requires that teachers have ample experiences that grow in difficulty until they mirror the real challenges of teaching.

Field experiences throughout teacher preparation are an opportunity to reinforce and practice lessons learned in coursework. A study of teachers in New York City examined whether different prep program courses required related field experiences, finding that simply adding more hours of fieldwork did not necessarily increase candidates' feelings that their coursework and fieldwork were in alignment, indicating that the quality of fieldwork matters too.¹⁵⁰

An NCATE task force exploring teacher prep asserted that these experiences should be embedded throughout the preparation program, including in coursework. They stated, "The core experience in teacher preparation is clinical practice. Content and pedagogy are woven around clinical experiences throughout preparation, in course work, in laboratory-based experiences, and in school-embedded practice."¹⁵¹

Teachers, too, argue for the importance of this increase in complexity. A report from TeachPlus authored by classroom teachers found clinical experiences should "move from simple to complex tasks" so student teachers "gradually acquire responsibility for teaching and learning."¹⁵²

Deans for Impact identifies five principles of deliberate practice that are relevant to preparing novice teachers:

- 1. Push beyond one's comfort zone.
- 2. Work toward well-defined, specific goals.
- 3. Focus intently on practice activities.
- 4. Receive and respond to high-quality feedback.
- 5. Develop a mental model of expertise.¹⁵³

Meeting these principles requires "improving a particular aspect of teaching rather than working toward broad, general improvement," and working on goals that are "sequenced, starting with basic skills and progressing to more sophisticated ones."¹⁵⁴

Engaging teacher candidates in field experiences prior to full-scale student teaching can be beneficial for everyone. Deans for Impact asserts that by allowing candidates to provide paid tutoring to students (one-on-one or in small groups), candidates would have the opportunity to connect what they learned in teacher prep to real classrooms, to confirm whether they want a career in the classroom, and to earn some money, therefore making teacher preparation more financially viable. Students and districts would benefit from having this source of tutors to support student learning.¹⁵⁵

Key takeaways: Experts in the field assert that aspiring teachers need ample time in the classroom to observe effective teachers at work, teach practice lessons aligned with their content coursework, and evaluate and give feedback on student work. Allowing student teachers to take on greater responsibility, working toward teaching full lessons and potentially for the entire school day, helps them to become more adept at the complexities of teaching.

Grade-level work and high-quality curricula

The curricula that a district uses matters a great deal. Higher-quality curricula increases student outcomes,¹⁵⁶ eases the burden on teachers so that they are not scrambling to find or create their own lessons,¹⁵⁷ and offers a cost-effective strategy for districts to improve student outcomes.¹⁵⁸ While districts and even schools within districts may use different curricula, many states are moving toward recommending or requiring a limited set of reviewed and vetted curricula, especially in core subjects like reading or ELA, in an effort to align instruction and curriculum with the research on effective teaching.¹⁵⁹

It stands to reason that teaching candidates how to use some of the curricula they are likely to encounter in the classroom would be beneficial—and research bears that out. A 2009 study of New York City teachers found that candidates' introduction to the city's math curriculum while in preparation was positively and significantly related to their value-added scores in math; the study found a similar relationship in ELA when limited to college-recommended teachers.¹⁶⁰

Further, research suggests that prep programs should make an effort to place student teachers in districts that are using methods (e.g., scientifically based reading instruction) that align with the research and with what student teachers have learned in preparation.¹⁶¹ Otherwise, "student teachers are likely to abandon evidence-based practices in favor of the cooperating teachers' instructional practices regardless of instructional efficacy or student outcomes."¹⁶² Moreover, teachers are *more likely* to use high-quality curricula and *less likely* to think that it's too challenging for their students if

they've received professional learning on how to use the curricula, suggesting a role for prep programs to play in preparing candidates on partner districts' high-quality curricula.¹⁶³

Other studies have found that teachers often give students work that is too easy for their grade level¹⁶⁴ and that teachers are granting grades that seem higher than warranted given students' lower standardized test achievement.¹⁶⁵ Both easy assignments and easy grades deprive students of learning opportunities and feedback, whereas higher grading standards benefit students.¹⁶⁶ Preparing aspiring teachers to assign grade-level work is especially important because students of color and students living in poverty are, in general, less likely to be in classrooms with grade-appropriate assignments, compared with white and higher-income students.¹⁶⁷

Key takeaways: Clinical practice should familiarize candidates with both how to implement high-quality curricula as well as what grade-level assignments and student work should look like.

Frequent observations with strong observation instruments

A key component of clinical practice is not only practicing teaching but also receiving feedback to guide improvement. A 2009 study of New York City teachers found that teacher prep programs requiring program supervisors to observe student teachers at least five times during the semester was associated with student teachers going on to become more effective.¹⁶⁸

A survey from TeachPlus Colorado found that the majority of teachers surveyed (70%) reported they received frequent observation and feedback and felt better prepared as a result.

Receiving feedback on observation forms similar to those used by the district or state may help student teachers understand the expectations they will face as a teacher of record; this is a practice in use by some states and some teacher prep programs (and research studies).¹⁶⁹ One study found that when student teachers received feedback from cooperating teachers aligned with the district's observation rubric, they tended to have higher observation ratings their first year of teaching.¹⁷⁰

Student teachers may benefit from additional, more specific feedback on areas like content knowledge and instruction. For example, a study of feedback provided to elementary student teachers in prep programs housed in five large institutions found that in a third of instances, the feedback provided did not include any comments about mathematics, and when mathematics feedback was given, the focus and depth varied widely.¹⁷¹ In contrast, a different study found that when program supervisors were given a "field guide" for observing math lessons, their candidates scored much higher on

knowledge of numbers and operations.¹⁷² Another study found that providing student teachers with specific feedback about storybook reading was associated with improved lesson quality.¹⁷³ Providing more explicit guidance in the observation instrument about the topics of feedback can reduce variability in whether student teachers receive feedback specifically about how well they are teaching content.

Key Takeaway: Student teachers are more likely to be effective as new teachers when they receive at least five observations from their program supervisor. Regular observations with written feedback at regular intervals throughout the placement, from both the program supervisor and the cooperating teacher, give student teachers more opportunities to improve their teaching. Observation instruments can be designed to align with those in use in the state or district and can include content-specific areas on which student teachers need feedback.

Clearly defined learning outcomes for student teachers

Effective teachers need to be steeped in a wide range of knowledge, skills, and dispositions. Some of these are based in research and are consistent across settings (e.g., reading instruction), while others will be specific to the state or district in which the candidate student teaches (e.g., the state's standards for student learning or the district's curricula or behavior systems). Prep programs, states, and school districts should use this information to jointly determine the knowledge and skills candidates need to attain both in advance of and during clinical practice.

While a great deal of research indicates what some learning outcomes should be in certain areas (see, for example, the Practice Guides from What Works Clearinghouse), there is little research on the process to jointly define these outcomes for clinical practice. Some national organizations that work with teacher prep programs have focused on coherence between clinical practice and the teacher prep program. TPI-US, an organization that performs inspections of hundreds of teacher prep programs, identifies coherence and consistent expectations as both deeply important and difficult to achieve because of the various actors (e.g., program supervisors, cooperating teachers) and actions (e.g., training for cooperating teachers, feedback processes) involved. TPI-US defines consistency as, "the degree to which central ideas regarding teaching and learning are shared by all the individuals involved in educating teachers and the degree to which learning opportunities are organized both conceptually and logistically toward those goals."¹⁷⁴ Similarly, US Prep (The University-School Partnerships for the Renewal of Educator Preparation National Center, which provides technical assistance and services to university-based teacher preparation programs) identifies "integration of coursework and clinical experiences" as a key attribute associated with teacher effectiveness,¹⁷⁵ and TeachPlus identifies "concurrent coursework that complements clinical experience" as a best practice in student teaching.¹⁷⁶

This process of defining learning outcomes should take into account typical abilities of student teachers. Some research on student teachers has found that they tend to have some areas of strengths and some areas of weakness with regard to instructional decision-making. For example, a 2008 study of 150 student teachers counted among their strengths, "noting a specific difficulty with student learning and making an on-the-spot adjustment in their instruction."¹⁷⁷ However, they struggled more with formative assessment strategies and making instructional changes based on the results (and explaining the rationale behind those changes), as well as teaching students to use "learning or cognitive strategies." Identifying these weak points and addressing them in aligned coursework could help strengthen student teachers' instruction.

While it seems likely that additional support through prep program coursework could help student teachers become more effective while student teaching, research on this seems too limited to draw any broad conclusions. Four different studies looked at four different approaches: a seminar during student teaching had no effect on achievement;¹⁷⁸ a weekly school-based seminar led by school personnel led to anecdotal positive experiences;¹⁷⁹ a listserv in which student teachers could ask questions, provide ideas, and offer each other encouragement produced a better understanding of topics to focus on in seminars;¹⁸⁰ and a lesson study program was associated with improved candidate efficacy and views of feedback quality.¹⁸¹

Key takeaways: Common practice and research suggests that prep programs, districts, and states should develop a coherent set of learning outcomes for student teachers and should reinforce them throughout the preparation experience.

For consideration: Length of placement

While the field has trended toward longer clinical practice placements, the research on the benefits of longer placements is inconclusive, finding some evidence of gains in teacher retention but little impact on effectiveness. Preparation programs have found success with a range of durations for their student-teaching placements. The duration of a student-teaching placement should be dictated by its ability to achieve hallmarks of quality, including (but not limited to) providing student teachers with an instructionally effective cooperating teacher, a range of placements in diverse schools with positive school climates, and frequent observations with feedback from the program supervisor

Research on the length of clinical practice placement finds:

• Effectiveness: Four studies found no relationship between length of clinical practice and measures of teacher outcomes like first-year observation ratings,¹⁸² ratings of classroom management,¹⁸³ or student achievement.¹⁸⁴

- Feelings of preparedness: Most studies found that more time spent in clinical practice was associated with greater feelings of preparedness,¹⁸⁵ while several found no difference in perceived preparedness based on the length of clinical practice.¹⁸⁶ One study found that the length of student teaching was unrelated to feelings of *preparedness* (based on questions about how prepared teacher candidates feel to do various instructional tasks), but that longer student teaching was associated with greater feelings of efficacy (based on questions about whether candidates feel that they are able to effectively address various instructional situations),¹⁸⁷ and one study found that candidates in a yearlong internship were more likely to perceive their time spent in schools as adequate compared to candidates who only did a semester internship.
- Hiring into teaching positions: A study of teacher preparation in Indiana found an unclear relationship between length of student teaching and whether candidates ever taught in the state's public schools.¹⁸⁸ Completers from programs with both *low* (490 hours or less) clinical practice requirements and those with *high* (640 hours or more) requirements had similar rates of ever teaching (73%), while completers from programs with *medium* requirements had lower rates of teaching in the state (63%). This study also found no relationship between length of student teaching and teachers' evaluation ratings in their first three years in the classroom.
- Retention in the classroom: Most but not all research finds a relationship between length of clinical practice and retention in the classroom. For example, one found that an additional week of student teaching increased the odds of staying in teaching by 5 to 10 percent, and more for science teachers and teachers in urban schools.¹⁸⁹ Another found that first-year teachers who had at least a semester (12 weeks) of student teaching were three times less likely to leave than those with no practice teaching, and they were somewhat less likely to leave than those with less than a semester of practice.¹⁹⁰ Another found that at least eight weeks of student teaching was associated with teachers being twice as likely to stay in the classroom compared with those with no practice teaching.¹⁹¹ On the other hand, one study found no relationship between length of student teaching and planned persistence in *teaching*, although it did find weak evidence of a relationship between length of student teaching and retention in teachers' first school of employment.¹⁹³
- **Knowledge of schools:** There's some limited evidence that candidates who spent more time in clinical practice have greater knowledge of their school,¹⁹⁴ greater content knowledge, and stronger "active-learning beliefs" than candidates who spent less time in clinical practice.¹⁹⁵

Key takeaway: The research on length of clinical practice suggests that a longer experience translates into better retention outcomes, but not greater effectiveness. The

length of the experience should be dictated by how much time programs need to provide student teachers with a high-quality experience with an instructionally effective cooperating teacher rather than making length the driving consideration.

AREA 6: DATA AND OUTCOMES

According to the NCATE task force, teacher candidates' progress and elements of preparation programs should be continuously judged on the basis of data (including student outcome data on assessments and structured observations by cooperating teachers and faculty).¹⁹⁶ Further, many states are implementing accountability systems that require prep programs to collect outcome data on their program completers, based in part on the theory that programs "can use pre-service teachers' [PSTs] data to provide more targeted support based on PSTs' needs, as well as adjust programmatic experiences."¹⁹⁷ Therefore, collecting outcome data can help inform decisions about individual candidates as well as drive a continuous improvement cycle for the clinical practice experience as a whole.

Feedback from student teachers

Student teachers can offer feedback that can inform many aspects of teacher preparation, including indicating areas in which they did or did not feel well prepared. Further, student teachers can provide valuable insights into the quality of their cooperating teachers; some prep programs report surveying candidates about their experiences to inform future placement decisions.¹⁹⁸ NCTQ's past analysis found that surveying candidates once they became teachers is a common practice: over 80% of programs do so.¹⁹⁹

Student teachers' *feelings* of preparedness are a common measure used in much of the research outlined above.²⁰⁰ However, this may not be a valid proxy for actual preparedness. One study of Chicago Public Schools found a scant relationship between student teachers' own feelings of preparedness and either their cooperating teachers' views on their preparedness or their observation ratings in their first year of teaching.²⁰¹

Key takeaway: Student teachers' feedback about their experience can be a valuable source of information for ongoing program improvement, but feelings of preparedness are not a strong indicator of student teachers being more prepared for the classroom.

Feedback from cooperating teachers and placement schools

Because cooperating teachers often observe student teachers on a daily basis,²⁰² they gain invaluable insight into the strengths and needs of individual student teachers. They can provide this data back to programs for consideration of whether the student teacher should earn a teaching license, as well as to provide insight into additional support that student teachers need, both in that semester (e.g., through a concurrent symposium

course) and for future cohorts (e.g., devoting more attention to certain classroom management strategies in coursework).

Gathering cooperating teacher observation data and sharing it back with districts can also be a useful tool in making hiring decisions, as a study of clinical practice in Chicago Public Schools found that these ratings were somewhat predictive of novice teachers' performance.²⁰³

Key takeaway: Cooperating teachers' feedback about student teachers and observation ratings can be a useful information source for ongoing program improvement and may also indicate which student teachers are better prepared for the classroom.

Hiring metrics

Novice teachers perform better in their first year of teaching if they student taught in schools similar to their first classroom.²⁰⁴ It stands to reason, then, that programs should track information about where their program completers are hired, including subject areas, districts, and school demographics, to inform future placement decisions.

Key takeaway: Information about whether and where student teachers are hired should be used to inform future student-teaching placements.

Classroom performance metrics

The ultimate goal of student teaching is to prepare novice teachers to be as prepared as possible when they have a classroom of their own. Numerous studies, detailed above, have identified characteristics of clinical practice that are associated with classroom effectiveness (e.g., cooperating teacher effectiveness, alignment of the placement site with novice teachers' classrooms, school climate of the placement site). Tracking classroom performance metrics (e.g., evaluation ratings, measures of student learning such as value-added measures, administrator surveys) can identify novice teachers' strengths and weaknesses, informing continuous improvement processes. Moreover, as more states track this data, it will facilitate future research into how to craft even more effective clinical practice experiences.

Key takeaway: Tracking data on student teachers' performance once they become teachers of record provides insight into whether the approach to clinical practice used by the program and district is effectively preparing its candidates.

Future learning

While this literature review described a wide range of research on clinical practice, there is much that the field still does not know. Remaining questions include, but are not limited to: How do we measure a teacher's mentoring ability? What other factors make someone

an effective mentor teacher? What are the optimal activities in which student teachers should engage in clinical practice and in what sequence?

Further research in these and other aspects of clinical practice could better inform the preparation of aspiring teachers moving forward. Prep programs, districts, and states can work together to create opportunities for more research, mirroring the studies described above. This may take the form of conducting experiments (like with the Mentors Matter recruitment study²⁰⁵) or making data sets available for researchers to study (like research on the relationship between hosting student teachers and filling vacancies²⁰⁶).

Key takeaway: There is much still to learn about how to best design a clinical practice experience; the field can work together to build more opportunities for research.

ENDNOTES

¹ Levine, A. (2006). Educating school teachers. *Education Schools Project*; Guyton, E., & McIntyre, D. J. (1990). Student teaching and school experiences. In W. R. Houston (Ed.), *Handbook of Research on Teacher Education* (pp. 514–534). New York: Macmillan; Brimfield, R., & Leonard, R. (1983). The student teaching experience: A time to consolidate one's perceptions. *College Student Journal*, 17, 401–406.
² Chen, X., Knepper, P. R., Geis, S., & Henke, R. R. (2000). *Progress through the teacher pipeline: 1992-93 college graduates and elementary secondary school teaching as of 1997*. DIANE Publishing.
³ NCTQ. (2020). *Clinical Practice*. National Council on Teacher Quality. Washington, DC: https://www.nctq.org/review/standardDetails/Clinical-Practice

⁴ Ibid.

⁵ National Council for Accreditation of Teacher Education. (2010). *Transforming teacher education through clinical practice: A national strategy to prepare effective teachers. Report of the Blue Ribbon Panel on Clinical Preparation and Partnerships for Improved Student Learning*. ERIC Clearinghouse.
 ⁶ Blanks, B. (2016). Student teachers' experiences with a preparation-to-practice gap in reading instruction: A preliminary exploration and implications for teacher preparation faculty. Kentucky Teacher *Education Journal: The Journal of the Teacher Education Division of the Kentucky Council for Exceptional Children, 3*(1), 2.

⁷ Coffman, A. N., & Patterson, R. (2014). Teacher residencies: Redefining preparation through partnerships. *National Education Association*.

⁸ Ibid.

⁹ Ibid.

¹⁰ National Council for Accreditation of Teacher Education. (2010).

¹¹ Coffman, A. N., & Patterson, R. (2014).

¹² Ibid.

¹³ National Council for Accreditation of Teacher Education. (2010).

¹⁴ Ibid.

¹⁵ St. John, E. S., Goldhaber, D., Krieg, J., & Theobald, R. (2021). How the match gets made: Exploring student teacher placements across teacher education programs, districts, and schools. *Journal of Education Human Resources*, *39*(3), 261–288.

¹⁶ Henning, J. E., Bragen Jr, B. F., Mulvaney, T., George III, W. O., Duffy, G., Aldarelli, E., ... & Borlan, C. A. (2018). The Monmouth University partnership: Redesigning practice. *School-University Partnerships*, *11*(1), 3–8.

¹⁷ For example, see Noel, J. (2006). Integrating a new urban teacher education center into a school and its community. *Journal of Urban Learning, Teaching, and Research, 2*, 218–226; Papay, J. P., West, M. R., Fullerton, J. B., & Kane, T. J. (2012). Does an urban teacher residency increase student achievement? Early evidence from Boston. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis, 34*(4), 413–434; Leftwich, S., Elder, B., Woodfield, C., LoCastro, A., & Rencher, L. (2020). It took decades to build: How four non-negotiables helped guide a PDS network to launch and sustain partnerships for close to 30 years. *School-University Partnerships, 13*(2), 8–17; Darling-Hammond, L., Chung, R., & Frelow, F. (2002). Variation in teacher preparation: How well do different pathways prepare teachers to teach? *Journal of Teacher Education, 53*(4), 286–302; Scheib, C. & Rowland, C. (2022). External Evaluation of the Albuquerque Teacher Residency Partnership.

¹⁸ Kern, S. M. (2004). Investigation of a student teacher placement model that fosters in-service education in the USA. *Journal of In-service Education, 30*(1), 29–56; Richman, L. J., Wittmann, C., & Madden, M. (2014). The story of a unique collaborative partnership focused on preparing effective teachers to be successful in high-poverty/high-minority schools. *School-University Partnerships, 7*(2), 113–118.

¹⁹ Education First. (2022). Partnering on prep: A toolkit for building strong district-teacher preparation

partnerships that support a diverse workforce. https://www.education-first.com/wp-

content/uploads/2018/10/EdFirst-Partnering-on-Prep-Update-Feb-2022.pdf

²⁰ Robinson, S., & Cote, D. (2016). Partnering for the clinical preparation of education specialists. *School-University Partnerships*, 9(1), 17–19.

²¹ Clarke, A., Triggs, V., & Nielsen, W. (2014). Cooperating teacher participation in teacher education: A review of the literature. *Review of Educational Research*, *84*(2), 163–202.

²² Goldhaber, D., Krieg, J., Naito, N., & Theobald, R. (2020). Making the most of student teaching: The importance of mentors and scope for change. *Education Finance and Policy*, *15*(3), 581–591.

²³ Cook, M., Eicher, L., & Martin, L. (2022). Effective clinical preparation through teacher residency. *Preparing quality teachers: Advances in Clinical Practice,* 201.

²⁴ Goldhaber, D., Krieg, J., & Theobald, R. (2020). Effective like me? Does having a more productive mentor improve the productivity of mentees?. *Labour Economics, 63*, 101792; Ronfeldt et al. found a relationship for English language arts VAM scores but not math VAM scores: Ronfeldt, M., Brockman, S.

L., & Campbell, S. L. (2018). Does cooperating teachers' instructional effectiveness improve preservice teachers' future performance?. *Educational Researcher*, *47*(7), 405–418; Goldhaber, D., Krieg, J., Naito, N., & Theobald, R. (2020).

²⁵ Goldhaber, D., Krieg, J., & Theobald, R. (2020).

²⁶ Ronfeldt, M., Bardelli, E., Truwit, M., Mullman, H., Schaaf, K., & Baker, J. C. (2020). Improving preservice teachers' feelings of preparedness to teach through recruitment of instructionally effective and experienced cooperating teachers: A randomized experiment. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, *42*(4), 551–575.

²⁷ Matsko, K. K., Ronfeldt, M., Nolan, H. G., Klugman, J., Reininger, M., & Brockman, S. L. (2020). Cooperating teacher as model and coach: What leads to student teachers' perceptions of preparedness? *Journal of Teacher Education*, *71*(1), 41–62.

²⁸ Goldhaber, D., Ronfeldt, M., Cowan, J., Gratz, T., Bardelli, E., Truwit, M., & Mullman, H. (2020). *Room for improvement? Mentor teachers and the evolution of teacher preservice clinical evaluations. Working Paper No. 239-0620.* National Center for Analysis of Longitudinal Data in Education Research (CALDER).
 ²⁹ Ronfeldt, M., Brockman, S. L., & Campbell, S. L. (2018).

³⁰ Ronfeldt, M., Matsko, K. K., Greene Nolan, H., & Reininger, M. (2021). Three different measures of graduates' instructional readiness and the features of preservice preparation that predict them. *Journal of Teacher Education*, *72*(1), 56–71.

³¹ Goldhaber, D., Krieg, J. M., & Theobald, R. (2020). Exploring the impact of student teaching apprenticeships on student achievement and mentor teachers. *Journal of Research on Educational Effectiveness*, *13*(2), 213–234.

³² Ronfeldt, M., Bardelli, E., Brockman, S. L., & Mullman, H. (2020). Will mentoring a student teacher harm my evaluation scores? Effects of serving as a cooperating teacher on evaluation metrics. *American Educational Research Journal*, *57*(3), 1392–1437.

³³ Goldhaber, D., Krieg, J., & Theobald, R. (2018). *The costs of mentorship? Exploring student teaching placements and their impact on student achievement. Working Paper 187*. National Center for Analysis of Longitudinal Data in Education Research (CALDER).

³⁴ Goldhaber, D., Krieg, J., Naito, N., & Theobald, R. (2020).

³⁵ Two studies found a relationship between years of experience of the cooperating teacher and the student teacher's effectiveness: Bastian, K. C., Patterson, K. M., & Carpenter, D. (2022). Placed for success: Which teachers benefit from high-quality student teaching placements? *Educational Policy*, *36*(7), 1583–1611; Goldhaber, D., Ronfeldt, M., Cowan, J., Gratz, T., Bardelli, E., Truwit, M., & Mullman, H. (2020). Two studies found a relationship when using experience in a composite measure: Boyd, D. J., Grossman, P. L., Lankford, H., Loeb, S., & Wyckoff, J. (2009). Teacher preparation and student achievement. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis, 31*(4), 416–440; Ronfeldt, M., Bardelli, E., Truwit, M., Mullman, H., Schaaf, K., & Baker, J. C. (2020).

³⁶ Ronfeldt, M., Matsko, K. K., Greene Nolan, H., & Reininger, M. (2021).

³⁷ Ronfeldt, M., Brockman, S. L., & Campbell, S. L. (2018).

³⁸ Ronfeldt, M., Matsko, K.K., Greene Nolan, H., & Reininger, M. (2021).

³⁹ Matsko, K. K., Ronfeldt, M., Nolan, H. G., Klugman, J., Reininger, M., & Brockman, S. L. (2020).

⁴⁰ Bastian, K. C., Patterson, K. M., & Carpenter, D. (2022).

⁴¹ Goldhaber, D., Krieg, J., Theobald, R., & Falken, G. (2023). *National Board Certification as a signal of cooperating teacher quality. CALDER Working Paper No. 284-0523.* National Center for Analysis of Longitudinal Data in Education Research (CALDER).

⁴² Ronfeldt, M., Matsko, K.K., Greene Nolan, H., & Reininger, M. (2021).

⁴³ John, E. S., Goldhaber, D., Krieg, J., & Theobald, R. (2021).

⁴⁴ Ibid.

⁴⁵ Ibid.

⁴⁶ Ronfeldt, M., Bardelli, E., Truwit, M., Mullman, H., Schaaf, K., & Baker, J. C. (2020).

⁴⁷ Ronfeldt, M., Bardelli, E., Truwit, M., Schaaf, K., & Baker, J. (2023). Mentors Matter recruitment replication & extension: Investigating effects across implementation years. *Journal of Research on Educational Effectiveness*, 1–24.

⁴⁸ Ronfeldt, M., Brockman, S. L., & Campbell, S. L. (2018).

⁴⁹ Gordon, M. F., & Jiang, J. Y. (2018). On the path to becoming a teacher: The landscape of student teaching in Chicago Public Schools. Policy Brief. University of Chicago Consortium on School Research.
 ⁵⁰ Goldhaber, D., Krieg, J., & Theobald, R. (2014). Knocking on the door to the teaching profession? Modeling the entry of prospective teachers into the workforce. *Economics of Education Review, 43*, 106–124.

⁵¹ National Council for Accreditation of Teacher Education. (2010).

⁵² Goldhaber, D., Krieg, J., Naito, N., & Theobald, R. (2020).

⁵³ Fives, H., Mills, T. M., & Dacey, C. M. (2016). Cooperating teacher compensation and benefits: Comparing 1957-1958 and 2012-2013. *Journal of Teacher Education,* 67(2), 105–119.

⁵⁴ Eiler White, M., Hirschboeck, K., Takahashi, S., Reade, F., Perry, R., & Honigsberg, L. (2020). Launching the California Teacher Residency Grant Program: Findings from Year 1 (2019/20). WestEd. https://www.wested.org/wp-

content/uploads/2020/10/Launching_CA_Teacher_Residency_Program_Findings-_Year1.pdf ⁵⁵ Wasburn-Moses, L. (2018). An analysis of conditions and trends in student teaching in the United States. *Teacher Development*, *22*(5), 703–716.

⁵⁶ Liu, E., Kardos, S. M., Kauffman, D., Peske, H. G., & Johnson, S. M. (2000). Barely breaking even: Incentives, rewards, and the high costs of choosing to teach. *Cambridge: Harvard Graduate School of Education*.

⁵⁷ Fiddiman, B., Campbell, C., & Partelow, L. (2019). Student debt: An overlooked barrier to increasing teacher diversity. *Center for American Progress*. https://www.americanprogress.org/article/student-debt-overlooked-barrier-increasing-teacher-diversity/

⁵⁸ Deans for Impact. (2023). *Mobilizing aspiring teachers as tutors: Policy solutions to accelerate student learning and strengthen teacher pipelines.* https://www.deansforimpact.org/files/assets/dfi-attn-policy-solutions-framework.pdf; Branch Alliance for Educator Diversity. (2023). *Strategies for sustaining a teacher residency.* https://resources.educatordiversity.org/resources/strategies-for-sustaining-a-teacher-residency-for-transformation-center-cohort-members-2

⁵⁹ Egalite, A., Kisida, B., & Winters, M. (2015). Representation in the classroom: The effect of own-race teachers on student achievement. *Economics on Education Review*, *45*, 44–52; Goldhaber, D., & Hansen, M. (2010). Race, gender and teacher testing: How informative a tool is teacher licensure testing and how does it impact student achievement? *American Educational Research Journal*, *47*(1), 218–51; Dee, T.S. (2004). Teachers, race, and student achievement in a randomized experiment. *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, *86*(1), 195–210; Lindsay, C., Monarrez, T., & Luetmer, G. (2021). *The effects of teacher diversity on Hispanic student achievement in Texas*. Policy brief. Texas Education Research Center; Gottfried, M., Kirksey, J. J., & Fletcher, T. L. (2022). Do high school students with a same-race teacher attend class more often? *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, *44*(1), 149–169; Gershenson, S., Hart, C. M., Hyman, J., Lindsay, C., & Papageorge, N. W. (2018). *The long-run impacts of same-race teachers* (No. w25254). National Bureau of Economic Research; Grissom, J. A., Kabourek, S. E., & Kramer, J. W. (2020). Exposure to same-race or same-ethnicity teachers and advanced math course-taking in high school: Evidence from a diverse urban district. *Teachers College Record*, *122*(7), 1–42; Lindsay, C. A., & Cassandra M. D. Hart. (2018). Exposure to same-race teachers and student disciplinary

outcomes for Black students in North Carolina. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, *39*(3), 485– 510; Scherer, E., & Cleveland, C. (2022). *The effects of teacher-student demographic matching on socialemotional learning*. Annenberg Institute at Brown University; Blazar, D. (2021). *Teachers of color, culturally responsive teaching, and student outcomes: Experimental evidence from the random assignment of teachers to classes*. EdWorkingPaper No. 21-501. Annenberg Institute for School Reform at Brown University; Cherng, H. Y. S., & Halpin, P. F. (2016). The importance of minority teachers: Student perceptions of minority versus white teachers. *Educational Researcher, 45*(7), 407–420.

⁶⁰ Putman, H., Hansen, M., Walsh, K., & Quintero, D. (2016). *High hopes and harsh realities: The real challenges to building a diverse workforce.* Brookings Institution; CALDER. (No date). *Understanding how diversity in the teacher preparation pipeline contributes to diversity gaps in the classroom.* CALDER. Retrieved January 19, 2024 from https://caldercenter.org/data-visualizations/understanding-how-diversity-teacher-preparation-pipeline-contributes-diversity

⁶¹ Steiner, E. D., Greer, L., Berdie, L., Schwartz, H. L., Woo, A., Doan, S., ... & Gittens, A. D. *Prioritizing strategies to racially diversify the K–12 teacher workforce.* RAND Corporation.

https://www.rand.org/content/dam/rand/pubs/research_reports/RRA1100/RRA1108-6/RAND_RRA1108-6.pdf

⁶² John, E. S., Goldhaber, D., Krieg, J., & Theobald, R. (2021).

⁶³ Putman, H. (2022) *Digging deeper: Which types of institutions achieve excellence and equity for aspiring teachers of color*? Washington, D.C.: National Council on Teacher Quality. Retrieved from: https://www.nctq.org/publications/Digging-Deeper:-Which-types-of-institutions-achieve-excellence-and-equity-for-aspiring-teachers-of-color

⁶⁴ Farinde, A. A., LeBlanc, J. K., & Otten, A. S. (2015). Pathways to Teaching: An Examination of Black Females' Pursuits of Careers as K–12 Teachers. *Educational Research Quarterly, 38*(3), 32–51. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1061948.pdf

⁶⁵ Rodriguez-Mojica, C., Rodela, K. C., & Ott, C. (2020). "I didn't wanna believe it was a race issue": Student teaching experiences of preservice teachers of color. *The Urban Review, 52*(3), 435–457.
 ⁶⁶ Ibid.

67 Ibid.

⁶⁸ Carver-Thomas, D. (2018b). Diversifying the teaching profession through high-retention pathways. Learning Policy Institute; Fiddiman, B., Campbell, C., & Partelow, L. (2019).

⁶⁹ Steiner, E. D., Greer, L., Berdie, L., Schwartz, H. L., Woo, A., Doan, S., Lawrence, R. A., Wolfe, R. L., and Gittens, A. D. (2022).

⁷⁰ Robinson, S., & Cote, D. (2016).

⁷¹ Davis, J. S., & Fantozzi, V. B. (2016). What do student teachers want in mentor teachers?: Desired, expected, possible, and emerging roles. *Mentoring & Tutoring: Partnership in Learning*, *24*(3), 250–266. ⁷² Wasburn-Moses, L. (2018).

⁷³ Wilkins-Canter, E. A. (1997). The nature and effectiveness of feedback given by cooperating teachers to student teachers. *The Teacher Educator*, *32*(4), 235–249.

⁷⁴ Bardach, L., Klassen, R. M., Durksen, T. L., Rushby, J. V., Bostwick, K. C., & Sheridan, L. (2021). The power of feedback and reflection: Testing an online scenario-based learning intervention for student teachers. *Computers & Education*, *169*, 104194; Ronfeldt, M. (2021). Links among Teacher Preparation, Retention, and Teaching Effectiveness. Evaluating and Improving Teacher Preparation Programs. *National Academy of Education*.

⁷⁵ Butler, B. M., & Cuenca, A. (2012). Conceptualizing the roles of mentor teachers during student teaching. *Action in Teacher Education*, *34*(4), 296–308.

⁷⁶ Mok, S. Y., & Staub, F. C. (2021). Does coaching, mentoring, and supervision matter for pre-service teachers' planning skills and clarity of instruction? A meta-analysis of (quasi-) experimental studies. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *107*, 103484.

⁷⁷ Clarke, A., Triggs, V., & Nielsen, W. (2014).

⁷⁸ Meyer, S. J. (2016). *Understanding field experiences in traditional teacher preparation programs in Missouri. REL 2016-145.* Regional Educational Laboratory Central.

⁷⁹ Matsko, K. K., Ronfeldt, M., Nolan, H. G., Klugman, J., Reininger, M., & Brockman, S. L. (2020).

⁸⁰ Kang, H. (2021). The role of mentor teacher–mediated experiences for preservice teachers. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 72(2), 251–263.

⁸¹ Scheeler, M. C., Ruhl, K. L., & McAfee, J. K. (2004). Providing performance feedback to teachers: A review. *Teacher Education and Special Education*, 27(4), 396–407.

⁸² Wilkins-Canter, E. A. (1997).

⁸³ Akcan, S., & Tatar, S. (2010). An investigation of the nature of feedback given to pre-service English teachers during their practice teaching experience. *Teacher Development, 14*(2), 153–172; Clarke, A., Triggs, V., & Nielsen, W. (2014).

⁸⁴ Sayeski, K. L., & Paulsen, K. J. (2012). Student teacher evaluations of cooperating teachers as indices of effective mentoring. *Teacher Education Quarterly, 39*(2), 117–130; Rakicioglu-Soylemez, A., & Eroz-Tuga, B. (2014). Mentoring expectations and experiences of prospective and cooperating teachers during practice teaching. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education (Online), 39*(10), 146–168; Akcan, S., & Tatar, S. (2010). An investigation of the nature of feedback given to pre-service English teachers during their practice teaching experience. *Teacher Development, 14*(2), 153–172.

⁸⁵ Evans, S., Jones, I., & Dawson, C. (2014). *Do subject specialists produce more useful feedback than non-specialists when observing mathematics lessons?* North American Chapter of the International Group for the Psychology of Mathematics Education.

⁸⁶ Clarke, A., Triggs, V., & Nielsen, W. (2014); Russell, M. L., & Russell, J. A. (2011). Mentoring Relationships: Cooperating Teachers' Perspectives on Mentoring Student Interns. *Professional Educator*, *35*(1), n1.

⁸⁷ Wilkins-Canter, E. A. (1997).

⁸⁸ Wilkins-Canter, E. A. (1997).

⁸⁹ Giebelhaus, C. R., & Bowman, C. L. (2002). Teaching mentors: Is it worth the effort? *The Journal of Educational Research*, 95(4), 246–254.

⁹⁰ Veenman, S., Denessen, E., Gerrits, J., & Kenter, J. (2001). Evaluation of a coaching programme for cooperating. *Educational Studies*, *27*(3), 317–340.

⁹¹ Ronfeldt, M., Truwit, M., Bardelli, E., Schaaf, K., & Smith, B. (2023). Cultivating stronger coaching in clinical mentors: An experimental evaluation of the Mentors Matter Professional Development Initiative. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 01623737231183414.

⁹² Becker, E. S., Waldis, M., & Staub, F. C. (2019). Advancing student teachers' learning in the teaching practicum through Content-Focused Coaching: A field experiment. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *83*, 12–26.

⁹³ Evertson, C. M., & Smithey, M. W. (2000). Mentoring effects on protégés' classroom practice: An experimental field study. *Journal of Educational Research*, *93*(5), 294–304.

⁹⁴ Ronfeldt, M., Bardelli, E., Truwit, M., Schaaf, K., & Baker, J. (2023).

⁹⁵ Anderson, N. A., & Radencich, M. C. (2001). The value of feedback in an early field experience: Peer, teacher, and supervisor coaching. *Action in Teacher Education*, *23*(3), 66–74.

⁹⁶ Boyd, D. J., Grossman, P. L., Lankford, H., Loeb, S., & Wyckoff, J. (2009).

⁹⁷ Preston, C. (2017). University-based teacher preparation and middle grades teacher effectiveness. *Journal of Teacher Education, 68*(1), 102–116.

⁹⁸ Burns, R., Jacobs, J., & Yendol-Hoppey, D. (2016). Preservice teacher supervision within field experiences in a decade of reform. *Teacher Education and Practice, 29*(1), 46–75.

⁹⁹ Sayeski, K. L., & Paulsen, K. J. (2012). Student teacher evaluations of cooperating teachers as indices of effective mentoring. *Teacher Education Quarterly, 39*(2), 117–130.

¹⁰⁰ Zeichner, K. (2010). Rethinking the connections between campus courses and field experiences in college-and university-based teacher education. *Journal of Teacher Education*, *61*(1-2), 89–99.

¹⁰¹ The areas included in this study were culturally relevant teaching, planning and preparation, professional responsibilities, classroom environment, and instruction. Matsko, K. K., Ronfeldt, M., Nolan,

H. G., Klugman, J., Reininger, M., & Brockman, S. L. (2020).

¹⁰² Scheeler, M. C., Ruhl, K. L., & McAfee, J. K. (2004).

¹⁰³ Flushman, T., Guise, M., & Hegg, S. (2019). Improving supervisor written feedback: Exploring the "what" and "why" of feedback provided to pre-service teachers. *Issues in Teacher Education, 28*(2), 46–

66; Vertemara, V., & Flushman, T. (2017). Emphasis of university supervisor feedback to teacher candidates. *Journal of Student Research, 6*(2), 45–55; Clarke, A., Triggs, V., & Nielsen, W. (2014). ¹⁰⁴ Vertemara, V., & Flushman, T. (2017).

¹⁰⁵ Deans for Impact is a national nonprofit that works with teacher educators, teacher preparation leaders, and policymakers to ensure that every student is taught by a well-prepared teacher. They offer instructional support to prep programs and districts, as well as research and policy resources. ¹⁰⁶ Deans for Impact. (2016). *Practice with purpose: The emerging science of teacher expertise.*

https://www.deansforimpact.org/tools-and-resources/practice-with-purpose-the-emerging-science-ofteacher-expertise

¹⁰⁷ Deans for Impact. (2016). p. 11.

¹⁰⁸ Kwok, A., De La Cruz, I., & Kwok, M. (2024). *Clinical teaching learning trajectory: Exploring field supervisor written feedback on clinical teacher pedagogy. (EdWorkingPaper: 24-896).* Retrieved from Annenberg Institute at Brown University: https://doi.org/10.26300/r9hh-hs29

¹⁰⁹ Goldhaber, D., Ronfeldt, M., Cowan, J., Gratz, T., Bardelli, E., & Truwit, M. (2022).

¹¹⁰ Papay, J. P., & Kraft, M. A. (2015). Productivity returns to experience in the teacher labor market: Methodological challenges and new evidence on long-term career improvement. *Journal of Public Economics*, *130*, 105–119; Bell, C. A., James, J. K., Taylor, E. S., & Wyckoff, J. (2023). *Measuring returns to experience using supervisor ratings of observed performance: The case of classroom teachers* (No. w30888). National Bureau of Economic Research.

¹¹¹ Zepeda, S. J., & Jimenez, A. M. (2019). Teacher evaluation and reliability: Additional insights gathered from inter-rater reliability analyses. *Journal of Educational Supervision*, *2*(2), 11–26.

¹¹² Kwok, A., De La Cruz, I., & Kwok, M. (2024).

¹¹³ Boguslav, A., & Cohen, J. (2023). Different methods for assessing preservice teachers' instruction: Why measures matter. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 00224871231200279.

¹¹⁴ Steinberg, M. P., & Garrett, R. (2016). Classroom composition and measured teacher performance: What do teacher observation scores really measure? *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, *38*(2), 293–317.

¹¹⁵ Steinberg, M. P., & Sartain, L. (2021). What explains the race gap in teacher performance ratings? Evidence from Chicago Public Schools. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, *43*(1), 60–82. ¹¹⁶ Ho, A. D., & Kane, T. J. (2013). *The reliability of classroom observations by school personnel.*

Research Paper. MET Project. Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation; Archer, J., Cantrell, S., Holtzman, S. L., Joe, J. N., Tocci, C. M., Wood, J. (2015). Seeing it clearly: Improving observer training for better feedback and better teaching. MET Project practice guide. Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation. https://usprogram.gatesfoundation.org/-/media/dataimport/resources/pdf/2016/11/met-seeing-it-clearly-

https://usprogram.gatestoundation.org/-/media/dataimport/resources/pdf/2016/11/met-seeing-it-clearlyv2.pdf.

¹¹⁷ Gordon, M. F., & Jiang, J. Y. (2018).

¹¹⁸ National Council for Accreditation of Teacher Education. (2010).

¹¹⁹ Ibid.

¹²⁰ Boyd, D. J., Grossman, P. L., Lankford, H., Loeb, S., & Wyckoff, J. (2009).

¹²¹ Grossman, P., Hammerness, K. M., McDonald, M., & Ronfeldt, M. (2008). Constructing coherence: Structural predictors of perceptions of coherence in NYC teacher education programs. *Journal of Teacher Education*, *59*(4), 273–287.

¹²² Krieg, J. M., Theobald, R., & Goldhaber, D. (2016). A foot in the door: Exploring the role of student teaching assignments in teachers' initial job placements. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, *38*(2), 364–388.

¹²³ Goldhaber, D., Krieg, J., Naito, N., & Theobald, R. (2021). Student teaching and the geography of teacher shortages. *Educational Researcher*, *50*(3), 165–175.

¹²⁴ Krieg, J. M., Theobald, R., & Goldhaber, D. (2016).

¹²⁵ Gordon, M. F., & Jiang, J. Y. (2018).

¹²⁶ Whipp, J. L., & Geronime, L. (2017). Experiences that predict early career teacher commitment to and retention in high-poverty urban schools. *Urban Education*, *52*(7), 799–828.

¹²⁷ Goldhaber, D., Krieg, J., & Theobald, R. (2014).

¹²⁸ Henry et al. found benefits in reading but not math; Krieg et al. found benefits in both reading and math. Henry, G. T., Campbell, S. L., Thompson, C. L., Patriarca, L. A., Luterbach, K. J., Lys, D. B., & Covington, V. M. (2013). The predictive validity of measures of teacher candidate programs and performance: Toward an evidence-based approach to teacher preparation. *Journal of Teacher Education*, *64*(5), 439–453; Krieg, J. M., Goldhaber, D., & Theobald, R. (2022). Disconnected development? The importance of specific human capital in the transition from student teaching to the classroom. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, *44*(1), 29–49.

¹²⁹ Backes, B., Cowan, J., Goldhaber, D., Jin, Z., & Theobald, R. (2024). *Misalignments Between Student Teaching Placements and Initial Teaching Positions: Implications for the Early-Career Attrition of Special Education Teachers*. National Center for Analysis of Longitudinal Data in Education Research (CALDER).
 ¹³⁰ Krieg, J. M., Goldhaber, D., & Theobald, R. (2022); Ronfeldt, M., Matsko, K. K., Greene Nolan, H., & Reininger, M. (2021).

¹³¹ Henry, G. T., Campbell, S. L., Thompson, C. L., Patriarca, L. A., Luterbach, K. J., Lys, D. B., & Covington, V. M. (2013).

¹³² Goldhaber, D., Krieg, J., Theobald, R., & Goggins, M. (2022). Front end to back end: Teacher preparation, workforce entry, and attrition. *Journal of Teacher Education*, *73*(3), 253–270. ¹³³ Bastian, K. C., Patterson, K. M., & Carpenter, D. (2022).

¹³⁴ Bastian, K. C., Lys, D. B., & Whisenant, W. R. (2023). Does placement predict performance? Associations between student teaching environments and candidates' performance assessment scores. *Journal of Teacher Education*, *74*(1), 40–54.

¹³⁵ Ronfeldt, M. (2012). Where should student teachers learn to teach? Effects of field placement school characteristics on teacher retention and effectiveness. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis, 34*(1), 3–26; Goldhaber, D., Krieg, J. M., & Theobald, R. (2017). Does the match matter? Exploring whether student teaching experiences affect teacher effectiveness. *American Educational Research Journal, 54*(2), 325–359.

¹³⁶ Bastian, K. C., Patterson, K. M., & Carpenter, D. (2022); Ronfeldt, M. (2015). Field placement schools and instructional effectiveness. *Journal of Teacher Education*, *66*(4), 304–320.

¹³⁷ Ronfeldt, M., Reininger, M., & Kwok, A. (2013). Recruitment or preparation? Investigating the effects of teacher characteristics and student teaching. *Journal of Teacher Education, 64*(4), 319–337.

¹³⁸ Goldhaber, D., Theobald, R., Choate, K., & Brown, N. (2021). *The front end of the STEM teacher pipeline: Early career STEM teachers' field experiences and perceptions of preparation. Working Paper No. 254-0721*. National Center for Analysis of Longitudinal Data in Education Research (CALDER).

¹³⁹ Goldhaber, D., Krieg, J. M., & Theobald, R. (2017); Krieg, J. M., Goldhaber, D., & Theobald, R. (2022). ¹⁴⁰ Goldhaber, D., Krieg, J., Theobald, R., & Goggins, M. (2022).

¹⁴¹ Whipp, J. L., & Geronime, L. (2017).

¹⁴² Ronfeldt, M. (2012).

¹⁴³ Gordon, M. F., & Jiang, J. Y. (2018).

¹⁴⁴ Ronfeldt, M. (2015); One study found that this held true for novice teachers whose GPAs had been in the bottom quartile: Bastian, K. C., Patterson, K. M., & Carpenter, D. (2022).

¹⁴⁵ Goldhaber, D., Krieg, J., & Theobald, R. (2014); Ronfeldt found gains for both retention and student achievement: Ronfeldt, M. (2012).

¹⁴⁶ Goldhaber, D., Quince, V., & Theobald, R. (2018a). Has it always been this way? Tracing the evolution of teacher quality gaps in US public schools. *American Educational Research Journal, 55*(1), 171–201; Goldhaber, D., Lavery, L., & Theobald, R. (2015). Uneven playing field? Assessing the Teacher Quality Gap Between Advantaged and Disadvantaged Students. *Educational Researcher, 44*(5), 293–307.

¹⁴⁷ U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, Common Core of Data (CCD). Table 3. Number of virtual schools, total state enrollment, total virtual school enrollment, and virtual

school enrollment as a percentage of state total enrollment: School year 2019–20. *Common Core of Data.* Retrieved from https://nces.ed.gov/ccd/tables/201920_Virtual_Schools_table_3.asp

¹⁴⁸ Batchelder, H., Curry, S., Hall, J., Jack, J., Khatavkar, J., Nabors, R., & Sachs, E. (2021). *Preparing new teachers for today's classroom: Recommendations from Teach Plus Colorado Policy Fellows.* TeachPlus. Retrieved January 19, 2024, from https://teachplus.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/t co teacher prep.pdf ¹⁴⁹ Klein, A. (2021). 1,500 decisions a day (at least!): How teachers cope with a dizzying array of questions. *Education Week. https://www.edweek.org/teaching-learning/1-500-decisions-a-day-at-leasthow-teachers-cope-with-a-dizzying-array-of-questions/2021/12*; Cuban, L. (2011). Jazz, basketball, and teacher decision-making. *Blog: Larry Cuban on School Reform and Classroom Practice*. Retrieved January 19, 2024, from https://larrycuban.wordpress.com/2011/06/16/jazz-basketball-and-teacher-decision-making/

¹⁵⁰ Grossman, P., Hammerness, K. M., McDonald, M., & Ronfeldt, M. (2008).

¹⁵¹ National Council for Accreditation of Teacher Education. (2010).

¹⁵² Batchelder, H., Curry, S., Hall, J., Jack, J., Khatavkar, J., Nabors, R., & Sachs, E. (2021).

¹⁵³ Deans for Impact. (2016).

¹⁵⁴ Deans for Impact. (2016). p. 6.

¹⁵⁵ Deans for Impact. (2023). *Policy solutions to accelerate student learning and strengthen teacher pipelines: Mobilizing aspiring teachers as tutors.* https://www.deansforimpact.org/files/assets/dfi-attn-policy-solutions-framework.pdf

¹⁵⁶ Jackson, K., Makarin, A. (2016-2017). Can online off-the-shelf lessons improve student outcomes? Evidence from a field experiment. *American Economic Journal: Economic Policy, 10*(3), 226–254. Retrieved from: https://www.nber.org/papers/w22398; Kane, T. (2016). *Never judge a book by its cover—use student achievement instead*. Brookings. https://www.brookings.edu/articles/never-judge-a-book-by-

its-cover-use-student-achievement-instead/

¹⁵⁷ Goldberg, M. (2016). *Classroom trends: Teachers as buyers of instructional materials and users of technology.* K–12 Market Advisors. Retrieved from: https://mdreducation.com/reports/classroom-trends-teachers-buyers-instructional-materials-users-technology

¹⁵⁸ Boser, U., Chingos, M., Straus, C. (2015). *The hidden value of curriculum reform: Do states and districts receive the most bang for their curriculum buck?* Washington, DC: Center for American Progress. Retrieved from: https://cdn.americanprogress.org/wp-

content/uploads/2015/10/06111518/CurriculumMatters-report.pdf

¹⁵⁹ Holston, S.; Putman, H.; Peske, H. (2024). *Five policy actions to strengthen implementation of the science of reading*. Washington, DC: National Council on Teacher Quality.

https://www.nctq.org/publications/State-of-the-States-2024-Five-Policy-Actions-to-Strengthen-Implementation-of-the-Science-of-Reading

¹⁶⁰ Boyd, D. J., Grossman, P. L., Lankford, H., Loeb, S., & Wyckoff, J. (2009).

¹⁶¹ Blanks, B. (2016).

162 Ibid.

¹⁶³ Shapiro, A., & Doan, S. (2023). *Do teachers think their curriculum materials are appropriately challenging for their students?: Findings from the 2023 American Instructional Resources Survey.* RAND. https://www.rand.org/pubs/research_reports/RRA134-21.html

¹⁶⁴ TNTP. (2018). *The opportunity myth: What students can show us about how school is letting them down—and how to fix it.* TNTP. https://tntp.org/publications/view/the-opportunity-myth

¹⁶⁵ Goldhaber, D., & Young, M. G. Course grades as a signal of student achievement: Evidence on grade inflation before and after COVID-19. CALDER Research Brief No. 35.

https://caldercenter.org/sites/default/files/CALDER%20Brief%2035-1123.pdf

¹⁶⁶ Figlio, D. N., & Lucas, M. E. (2004). Do high grading standards affect student performance? *Journal of Public Economics*, *88*(9-10), 1815–1834; Gershenson, S., Holt, S. B., & Tyner, A. (2022). Making the grade: The effect of teacher grading standards on student outcomes. *Contemporary Economic Policy*. ¹⁶⁷ TNTP. (2018).

¹⁶⁸ Boyd, D. J., Grossman, P. L., Lankford, H., Loeb, S., & Wyckoff, J. (2009).

¹⁶⁹ Ronfeldt, M., Bardelli, E., Truwit, M., Schaaf, K., & Baker, J. (2023); Kwok, A., De La Cruz, I., & Kwok, M. (2024).

¹⁷⁰ Ronfeldt, M., Matsko, K. K., Greene Nolan, H., & Reininger, M. (2021).

¹⁷¹ Schwartz, C., Walkowiak, T. A., Poling, L., Richardson, K., & Polly, D. (2018). The nature of feedback given to elementary student teachers from university supervisors after observations of mathematics lessons. *Mathematics Teacher Education and Development*, *20*(1), 62–85.

¹⁷² Hertzog, H. S., & O'Rode, N. (2011). Improving the quality of elementary mathematics student teaching: Using field support materials to develop reflective practice in student teachers. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, *38*(3), 89–111.

¹⁷³ Van den Hurk, H. T. G., Houtveen, A. A. M., Van de Grift, W. J. C. M., & Cras, D. W. P. (2014). Datafeedback in teacher training. Using observational data to improve student teachers' reading instruction. *Studies in Educational Evaluation*, *42*, 71–78.

¹⁷⁴ TPI-US. (No Date). *Ensuring Consistent Expectations in Clinical Practice Opportunities.* https://irp.cdn-website.com/1eab71c6/files/uploaded/Consistency_of_Expectations_done.pdf

¹⁷⁵ US Prep. (2024). *Transforming Teacher Preparation.* https://www.usprepnationalcenter.com/our-model

¹⁷⁶ Batchelder, H., Curry, S., Hall, J., Jack, J., Khatavkar, J., Nabors, R., & Sachs, E. (2021). ¹⁷⁷ Kohler, F., Henning, J. E., & Usma-Wilches, J. (2008). Preparing preservice teachers to make instructional decisions: An examination of data from the teacher work sample. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *24*(8), 2108–2117.

¹⁷⁸ Preston, C. (2017).

¹⁷⁹ Bennett, M., & Bennett, M. M. (2011). A high school PDS becomes a whole school experience. *Investigating University-School Partnerships, 4*, 309.

¹⁸⁰ Singer, N. R., & Zeni, J. (2004). Building bridges: Creating an online conversation community for preservice teachers. *English Education*, *37*(1), 30–49.

¹⁸¹ Chizhik, E. W., Chizhik, A. W., Close, C., & Gallego, M. (2018). Developing student teachers' teaching self-efficacy through Shared Mentoring in Learning Environments (SMILE). *International Journal of Mentoring and Coaching in Education.*

¹⁸² Ronfeldt, M., Matsko, K. K., Greene Nolan, H., & Reininger, M. (2021).

¹⁸³ Chambers, S. M., & Hardy, J. C. (2005). Length of time in student teaching: Effects on classroom control orientation and self-efficacy beliefs. *Educational Research Quarterly, 28*(3), 3–9.

¹⁸⁴ Preston, C. (2017); Ronfeldt, M. (2015).

¹⁸⁵ Eckert, S. A. (2013). What do teaching gualifications mean in urban schools? A mixed-methods study of teacher preparation and qualification. Journal of Teacher Education, 64(1), 75-89; Ronfeldt, M., & Reininger, M. (2012). More or better student teaching? Teaching and Teacher Education, 28(8), 1091-1106; Keese, J., Waxman, H., Asadi, L., & Graham, M. (2022). Retention intention: Modeling the relationships between structures of preparation and support and novice teacher decisions to stay. Teaching and Teacher Education, 110, 103594; Ronfeldt, M., Matsko, K. K., Greene Nolan, H., & Reininger, M. (2021); Ronfeldt, M., Schwartz, N., & Jacob, B. A. (2014). Does preservice preparation matter? Examining an old question in new ways. Teachers College Record, 116(10), 1-46; Putman, S. M., Cash, A. H., & Polly, D. (2022). Examining the impact of an embedded, multisemester internship on teacher education candidates' teacher self-efficacy. Teacher Education Quarterly, 49(4), 28-48. ¹⁸⁶ Spooner, M., Flowers, C., Lambert, R., & Algozzine, B. (2008). Is more really better? Examining perceived benefits of an extended student teaching experience. The Clearing House: A Journal of Educational Strategies, Issues, and Ideas, 81(6), 263-270; Chambers, S. M., & Hardy, J. C. (2005); Deng, Q., Kiramba, L. K., & Viesca, K. M. (2021). Factors associated with novice general education teachers' preparedness to work with multilingual learners: A multilevel study. Journal of Teacher Education, 72(4), 489-503.

¹⁸⁷ Ronfeldt, M., Reininger, M., & Kwok, A. (2013).

¹⁸⁸ Wan, Y., Pardo, M., & Xia, J. (2021). *Understanding the teacher pipeline for Indiana's K–12 public schools*. REL 2021-065. Regional Educational Laboratory Midwest.

¹⁸⁹ Ronfeldt, M., Schwartz, N., & Jacob, B. A. (2014).

¹⁹⁰ Ingersoll, R., Merrill, L., & May, H. (2014). *What are the effects of teacher education and preparation on beginning teacher attrition?* Consortium for Policy Research in Education.

¹⁹¹ Ronfeldt, M., Schwartz, N., & Jacob, B. A. (2014).

¹⁹² Ronfeldt, M., & Reininger, M. (2012).

¹⁹³ Eckert, S. A. (2013).

¹⁹⁴ Spooner, M., Flowers, C., Lambert, R., & Algozzine, B. (2008).

¹⁹⁵ Jacobson, E. D. (2017). Field experience and prospective teachers' mathematical knowledge and beliefs. *Journal for Research in Mathematics Education, 48*(2), 148–190.

¹⁹⁶ National Council for Accreditation of Teacher Education. (2010).

¹⁹⁷ Boguslav, A., & Cohen, J. (2023).

¹⁹⁸ John, E. S., Goldhaber, D., Krieg, J., & Theobald, R. (2021).

¹⁹⁹ Greenberg, J., Walsh, K., & McKee, A. (2014). *Teacher Prep Review: A review of the nation's teacher preparation programs*. Washington, DC: National Council on Teacher Quality.

https://www.nctq.org/dmsView/Teacher_Prep_Review_2014_Report

²⁰⁰ See, for example: Eckert, S. A. (2013); Ronfeldt, M., & Reininger, M. (2012); Keese, J., Waxman, H., Asadi, L., & Graham, M. (2022).

²⁰¹ Ronfeldt, M., Matsko, K. K., Greene Nolan, H., & Reininger, M. (2021).

²⁰² Meyer, S. J. (2016).

²⁰³ Gordon, M. F., & Jiang, J. Y. (2018); Ronfeldt, M., Matsko, K. K., Greene Nolan, H., & Reininger, M. (2021).

²⁰⁴ See, for example, Goldhaber, D., Krieg, J. M., & Theobald, R. (2017); Krieg, J. M., Goldhaber, D., & Theobald, R. (2022).

²⁰⁵ Ronfeldt, M., Bardelli, E., Truwit, M., Schaaf, K., & Baker, J. (2023).

²⁰⁶ Goldhaber, D., Krieg, J., Naito, N., & Theobald, R. (2021).